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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) Civil Case Number:  09-071
)

Plaintiff, ) COMPLAINT FOR CIVIL MONETARY 
) PENALTIES; AND DEMAND FOR

v. ) JURY TRIAL
)
)

UNION PACIFIC RAILROAD CO., )
)

Defendant. )
______________________________)

ORIGINAL COMPLAINT

The United States of America, by its undersigned attorney, alleges as follows:

NATURE OF ACTION

1. This action arises out of Defendant Union Pacific Railroad Company’s failure on June

16, 2003, to prevent the use of its rail car to smuggle large quantities of narcotics into the United

States at the Port of Entry at Brownsville, Texas.  The United States brings this action for civil

monetary penalties under the Tariff Act of 1930, 19 U.S.C. § 1584.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2.  This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1345 and 1355.  

3. Defendant resides and is found in this district.  The acts alleged herein occurred in

this district.  The civil monetary penalties at issue have accrued in this district.  Venue is proper in

this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1395.

PARTIES

4. Plaintiff is the United States and brings this action on behalf of the United States

Department of Homeland Security, Customs and Border Protection (“CBP”), which is vested with

the duty to enforce and execute, inter alia, provisions of Title 19 of the United States Code. 

5. Defendant Union Pacific Railroad Company (“Union Pacific”) is a Delaware
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corporation, and is the principal operating subsidiary of Union Pacific Corporation, a Utah

corporation.  At all times relevant to this action, Union Pacific was doing business in this district.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

6.          The United States, as sovereign, has the inherent interest and authority to protect its

territorial integrity.  Nowhere is the government’s interest and authority in preventing the entry of

unwanted persons and effects greater than at the international border.  Dating back to the nation’s

earliest customs statute, Act of July 31, 1789, ch. 5, 1 Stat. 29, Congress has expressed its

determination to grant customs officials full power and authority to prevent articles from being

introduced unlawfully to the United States.  Through the enactment of the Tariff Act of 1930, at 19

U.S.C. § 1584, as amended, Congress has deemed fit to impose significant economic penalties upon

those whose conveyances are used to introduce contraband into the United States.

7.  CBP is a component of the Department of Homeland Security and serves as the

guardian of this nation’s borders.  CBP has plenary powers to meet its priority mission to keep

terrorists and their weapons out of the United States and to prevent the smuggling of illicit narcotics

and other contraband into the country.  CBP is authorized to conduct searches at international border

ports of entry, or their functional equivalents, of vessels and vehicles, without cause, before allowing

them entry into and transit throughout the United States. 

8. Union Pacific is the largest provider of rail transportation services in North America.

It operates in 23 states throughout the western two-thirds of the United States.  For its financial gain,

Union Pacific has also chosen to operate in the gateways between the United States and Mexico.

In fact, Union Pacific holds itself out to the public as the primary rail connection between the United

States and Mexico, serving border gateways in California, Arizona and Texas.  Union Pacific’s

Mexico operations include border operations, interchange with Mexican railroads, capacity

planning, and special projects.  

9. At the times alleged herein, Union Pacific has made efforts to increase its financial

gain through expansion of its Mexico operations.  Union Pacific has, among other things, a

substantial ownership interest in the privatized Mexican railroad company Ferrocarril Mexicano
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(also known as Ferromex).  Union Pacific purports to partner with Ferromex to offer Union Pacific’s

customers the ability to move merchandise into Mexico from the United States, and into the United

States from Mexico.  

10. Union Pacific Corporation has derived increasingly substantial revenue from its

Mexico rail operations at the times alleged herein.  In fact, its revenue from its Mexico operations

was over $1.5 billion in 2008 alone.  For the 4  Quarter of 2008, Union Pacific Corporation reportedth

revenue of $4.29 billion, an increase in quarterly revenue from $4.2 billion.  It also reported for the

4  Quarter of 2008 net income of $661 million, up from $491 million in 2007.       th

11.   Pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1584, the master of a vessel, or the owner or person in charge

of a vehicle, bound to the United States is required to submit to CBP a manifest that accurately

identifies all merchandise on board the vessel or vehicle.  Merchandise within the meaning of the

Tariff Act includes cocaine and other illicit narcotics.  19 U.S.C. § 1401(m).  The manifest must be

signed, produced, and delivered or electronically transmitted by the master or person in charge of

the vessel, aircraft, or vehicle, or by any other authorized agent of the owner or operator.  19 U.S.C.

§§ 1431, 1433.  A rail car is a “vehicle” within the meaning of the Tariff Act, which broadly defines

a vehicle as “every description of carriage or other contrivance used, or capable of being used, as a

means of transportation on land, but does not include aircraft.”  19 U.S.C. § 1401(b).  

12.        A violation of § 1584 mandates the imposition of civil monetary penalties.  Where

a manifest does not properly identify merchandise on board due to the presence of illicit narcotics,

the statute fixes a penalty based on the type and quantity of the narcotic found.  

13. On the occasion alleged herein, Union Pacific submitted to CBP a manifest for

merchandise contained in rail car bound to the United States that Union Pacific owned, leased,

operated, or was otherwise in charge of.  Consistent with its mission, CBP inspected the rail car at

the Port of Entry at Brownsville, Texas to ensure that all merchandise on board had been properly

identified in the manifests and that the rail cars were not carrying contraband, including illicit

narcotics.  During the course of the inspection, CBP found in excess of 117 kilograms of cocaine on
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Union Pacific’s rail car bound for travel throughout the United States.  No cocaine was listed on the

manifest for this rail car.

14. Union Pacific violated 19 U.S.C. § 1584 in the violation alleged herein.  Among other

things, Union Pacific was a statutory owner of the rail car, a statutory person in charge of the rail car,

and was responsible for the submission of, and did submit, a manifest that did not accurately identify

the merchandise on board the rail car.  CBP imposed mandatory monetary penalties for Union

Pacific’s violations of 19 U.S.C. § 1584 for the violation alleged herein.  To date, Union Pacific has

failed and refused to pay the civil penalties. 

15. The Tariff Act provides a narrow exception to liability for the failure to manifest

illicit narcotics under § 1584(a)(2) – available only to masters and owners of vessels – if, among

other requirements, neither the master nor the owner of the vessel knew, and could not, by the

exercise of the highest degree of care and diligence, have known, that such narcotics were on board.

Union Pacific is not entitled to application of this narrow exception because, as the statute expressly

provides, the exception applies only to vessels, not vehicles (including rail cars).  As defined by §

1401(a), “the word ‘vessel’ includes every description of water craft or other contrivance used, or

capable of being used, as a means of transportation in water, but does not include aircraft.”  Union

Pacific cannot avail itself of this narrow exception for the additional reason that it failed to meet the

highest degree of care and diligence standard. 

SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS

  16. The United States realleges paragraphs 1 to 15 as though fully set forth herein.

17.       On the instance alleged herein, CPB discovered cocaine on board of a Union Pacific

rail car.  Typical of Union Pacific’s violation of 19 U.S.C. § 1584 was an instance on or about June

16, 2003. Union Pacific submitted a manifest to CBP for entry at the Port of Entry at Brownsville,

Texas.  Contrary to Union Pacific’s representations within the manifest that the rail cars were empty,

during routine inspection CBP found a total of 99 packages containing 117 kilograms of cocaine

within a false wall on the bottom side of the rail car.  

18. For the instance alleged herein, CBP properly assessed civil penalties in the collective
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amount of $4,128,000 against Union Pacific for its violations of 19 U.S.C. § 1584.  

19. For the  instance alleged herein, CBP has provided Union Pacific written notice and

demand for payment of the penalties prescribed in § 1584.  Union Pacific has refused to pay any

penalty amounts imposed for the instance alleged herein.  

20. The United States commences this action timely and in accordance with any

applicable statute of limitations.  In addition, Union Pacific has executed statute of limitations

waivers such that this action is timely commenced.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the United States demands and prays that judgment is entered in its favor

as follows:

1. for civil penalties in the collective amount of $4,128,000, plus interest as allowed by

law;

2. for the United States’ costs of this action; and

3. for such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

DATED: March 17  , 2009TH

Respectfully submitted,

MICHAEL F. HERTZ
Acting Assistant Attorney General

TIM JOHNSON
Acting United States Attorney
Southern District of Texas

s/ Nancy L. Masso                           
NANCY L. MASSO
Assistant U.S. Attorney
600 East Harrison St., No. 201
Brownsville, TX 78520
Tel: (956) 548-2554
Fax: (956) 548-2549
State Bar No. 00800490
Federal I.D. No. 10263
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